
CITY OF GRAHAM 
AGENDA 

TUESDAY, MAY 5, 2015 
7:00 P.M. 

Meeting called to order by the Mayor 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  

1. Honorary Recognitions, Resolutions and Proclamations:
 Sister City Fountain Dedication
 Mike Carson Resolution
 Sara Pugh Resolution
 Police Officer of the Year Proclamation

2. Consent Agenda:
a. Approval of Minutes – April 14, 2015 Special Session.
b. Tax Releases and Refunds.
c. Request from the Recreation and Parks Department to close the 100 block of W. Elm

Street from 5:00 p.m. – 11:00 p.m. for the Thursday at Seven Concert Series on September
10, 2015.

3. Old Business
 Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing: Apex View UBD & Community Center (SUP1501).

Request by Thangaraju Muruegsan for a Special Use Permit for a Community Center and
Unified Business Development on property located at 602 W Elm St
(GPIN 8874759635).

4. Requests and Petitions of Citizens:
a. Public Hearing: Petition for Voluntary Non-Contiguous Annexation Kimrey Road:

i. Approve Annexation Ordinance.

b. Petition for Voluntary Contiguous Annexation 351 Longdale Drive:
i. Approve Resolution requesting City Clerk to Investigate the Sufficiency.
ii. Approve Resolution fixing date of Public Hearing on Question of Annexation.

5. Recommendations from Planning Board
 Public Hearing: Kimrey Road Rezoning (RZ 1502). Application by the City of Graham

to initiate I-1 zoning for a portion of a parcel on Kimrey Road (GPIN 9803172212).

6. Project Quarter Incentive Agreement:
a. Public Hearing: To receive comments on a proposal to extend economic development

incentives for a proposed distribution facility to be constructed in the North Carolina
Commerce Park (NCCP). The proposed incentive would include a total cash grant in the
amount of $3,375,000 over a 5 year period and the construction of a roadway estimated
at $2,000,000 by the Cities of Graham and Mebane and the County of Alamance in
accordance with the provisions of NCGS 158-7.1, NCGS 158-7.2, and NCGS 160A-
20.1.  The consideration for the incentives will be the company’s agreement to construct
upon the site, improvements consisting of a distribution center and related facilities
which will employ not less than 80 full time positions with average salaries of $80,000
and which will increase the tax base by not less than $125,000,000.

b. Consider Incentive Agreement.

7. Audit & Accounting Services:
a. Approve Engagement Agreement for Consulting, Professional Assistance and

Preparation of 6/30/15 Financial Statements.
b. Approve Audit Contract.

8. Issues Not Included on Tonight’s Agenda

Page 1 of 104



Page 2 of 104



Page 4 of 104



 
RESOLUTION OF COMMENDATION AND APPRECIATION TO  

MIKE CARSON 
FOR 28 YEARS SERVICE TO THE CITY OF GRAHAM 

  
 WHEREAS, Mike Carson diligently served the City of Graham as a staff member of the 
Graham Water Treatment Plant from January 15, 1987 until February 1, 2015; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Mike retired as Superintendent of the Graham Water Treatment Plant from 
the City of Graham on February 1, 2015 with 28 years of service; and 

 WHEREAS, his wisdom, care and dedication has commanded the utmost respect from 
his colleagues and employees; and 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council to extend their deepest appreciation to 
Mike for the excellent time and service he has afforded the citizens of Graham and his fellow 
employees. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GRAHAM THAT:  Mike be commended for his outstanding public service to the City of 
Graham. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT:  an expression of appreciation be extended to 
Mr. Mike Carson in the form of this Resolution of Commendation and Appreciation, and that this 
Resolution become a part of the official records of the City of Graham for all of time, and the 
original thereof be presented to him in person.  

 This the 5th day of May 2015. 
       
               
         
        Jerry Peterman, Mayor 
        City of Graham 
 

 

Page 5 of 104



 
RESOLUTION OF COMMENDATION AND APPRECIATION TO  

SARA PUGH 
FOR 29 YEARS SERVICE TO THE CITY OF GRAHAM 

  
 WHEREAS, Sara Pugh diligently served the City of Graham as a staff member of the 
Graham Police Department from May 22, 1986 until May 1, 2015; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Sara retired as Administrative Assistant to the Chief of Police from the City 
of Graham on May 1, 2015 with 29 years of service; and 

 WHEREAS, her wisdom, care and dedication has commanded the utmost respect from 
her colleagues and employees; and 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council to extend their deepest appreciation to Sara 
for the excellent time and service she has afforded the citizens of Graham and her fellow 
employees. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF GRAHAM THAT:  Sara be commended for her outstanding public service to the City of 
Graham. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT:  an expression of appreciation be extended to 
Ms. Sara Pugh in the form of this Resolution of Commendation and Appreciation, and that this 
Resolution become a part of the official records of the City of Graham for all of time, and the 
original thereof be presented to her in person.  

 This the 5th day of May 2015. 
       
               
         
        Jerry Peterman, Mayor 
        City of Graham 
 

 

Page 6 of 104



 
PROCLAMATION COMMENDING BEN EDWARDS         

2014 POLICE OFFICER OF THE YEAR  

 

 WHEREAS, annually the Graham Police Department presents a “Police Officer of the Year 
Award” to a member of the City of Graham Police Department; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the “Police Officer of the Year Award” was presented to Ben Edwards, who has 
served the citizens of Graham since November 10, 2005; and  

 WHEREAS, Ben Edwards was selected for this honor by his peers based on his personal 
commitment to the betterment of the Police Department and his community in numerous respects; 
including, but not limited to: 

• Providing professional public service and protection above and beyond expectations 
• Serving as a positive role model to colleagues and the community at large 
• Completing tasks willingly and optimistically 

 WHEREAS, it is the desire of the City Council to extend their deepest appreciation to Ben for the 
excellent service he has afforded the citizens of Graham and his peers. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jerry Peterman, Mayor of the City of Graham, on behalf of the City 
Council and citizens of Graham, do hereby extend official congratulations and proclaim Ben Edwards as 
the City of Graham Police Department’s 2014 Police Officer of the Year.  

 This the 5th day of May 2015.  
    
 
          

Jerry Peterman, Mayor 
City of Graham 

 
 

Page 7 of 104



CITY OF GRAHAM 
SPECIAL SESSION 

TUESDAY, APRIL 14, 2015 
7:00 P.M. 

 
The City Council of the City of Graham met in special session at 7:00 p.m. on Tuesday, April 14, 
2015, in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street. 
 
Council Members Present:   Also Present: 
Mayor Jerry Peterman    Frankie Maness, City Manager 
Mayor Pro Tem Jimmy Linens   Darcy Sperry, City Clerk  
Council Member Jim Albright   Nathan Page, City Planner 
Council Member Lee Kimrey   Michael Leinwand, Special Projects Coordinator 
Council Member Chip Turner   Keith Whited, City Attorney 

John Andrews, Fire Chief 
      
Mayor Jerry Peterman called the meeting to order and presided at 7:00 p.m.  Mayor Pro Tem Jimmy 
Linens gave the invocation and everyone stood to recite the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Honorary Proclamations: 

 Fireman of the Year - Mayor Jerry Peterman presented a proclamation to Nathan Newlin 
recognizing him as the 2014 Graham Fire Department’s Fireman of the Year. Fire Chief 
John Andrews thanked Mr. Newlin for his service.  Mr. Newlin thanked everyone for this 
award. 

 
 

Page 8 of 104



 Arbor Day – Mayor Peterman presented a proclamation to City of Graham Appearance 
Commission Chairman Elaine Murrin and declared April 18, 2015 as Arbor Day within the 
City of Graham.  Ms. Murrin stated that the Annual Arbor Day Celebration will take place 
on Saturday, April 18, 2015 at the Children’s Museum of Alamance and welcomed all to 
attend the day’s festivities beginning at 11:00 a.m. 

 
 

 Alcohol Awareness Month – Mayor Peterman presented a proclamation to Ms. Haley Ross 
of the Alamance County Advisory Council and declared April 2015 as Alcohol Awareness 
Month within the City of Graham.  Ms. Ross advised that she is a freshman at the Burlington 
School and mentioned that the Advisory Council is currently working on a bill which would 
prohibit powdered alcohol to be sold in North Carolina.  Ms. Ross thanked everyone for being 
such active members in our community. 

Page 9 of 104



 

Consent Agenda: 

a. Approval of Minutes – March 3, 2015 Regular Session. 
b. Budget Amendment; Riverwalk Subdivision Improvements. 
c. Resolution to Amend the Regional Geographic Information System Agreement. 

 
Mayor Peterman asked the Council Members if they would like to pull any of the items from the 
Consent Agenda.  Council Member Lee Kimrey asked to pull item “c. Resolution to Amend the 
Regional Geographic Information System Agreement.” 
 
Council Member Kimrey made a motion to approve items “a” and “b” on the Consent Agenda, 
seconded by Council Member Jim Albright.  All voted in favor of the motion.  

Page 10 of 104



 
 
Council Member Kimrey questioned City Manager Frankie Maness about the cost of the Regional 
Geographic Information System (GIS) appropriated in this year’s budget versus what is being 
proposed in next year’s budget.  Mr. Maness stated that the cost is split between the General Fund 
and the Water/Sewer Fund and therefore the difference can be found in the Water/Sewer Fund by 
adding it to the appropriation in the General Fund.  
 
Council Member Kimrey made a motion to approve item “c” on the consent agenda, seconded by 
Mayor Pro Tem Linens.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

Page 11 of 104



 
 
 

Page 12 of 104



Old Business 
Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing: Apex View UBD & Community Center (SUP1501). Request 
by Thangaraju Muruegsan for a Special Use Permit for a Community Center and Unified 
Business Development on property located at 602 W Elm St (GPIN 8874759635). 

Mayor Peterman opened the Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing and polled the Council for any financial 
interests, fixed opinions or communications regarding the property.  Council Member Kimrey 
disclosed that he attended the Planning & Zoning Board meeting and that at that meeting he heard 
testimony and evidence presented according to this item.  Mayor Peterman asked Council Member 
Kimrey if he felt that it would sway his decision one way or another.  Council Member Kimrey 
replied no.  Mayor Peterman asked if anyone objected.  No one objected. 
 
City Clerk Darcy Sperry swore in City Planner Nathan Page and Special Projects Coordinator 
Michael Leinwand.   
 
Mr. Page explained that this is a request by Thangaraju Muruegsan who intends to have a Unified 
Business Development which allows for multiple tenants.  He further explained that there are three 
(3) buildings on site and the applicant is requesting to use one of the smaller units (approximately 
four-thousand (4,000) sq. ft.) as a Community Center.   

Mayor Pro Tem Linens asked Mr. Page what the Planning Board’s argument was on the drive thru.  
Mr. Page indicated that drive thru is currently going against the flow of traffic and that according to 
Graham Police Chief Prichard, there is a high likelihood of pedestrian conflict.  Council Member 
Jim Albright asked Mr. Page what the current zoning is.  Mr. Page advised that this site is split zoned 
between B-2 and I-1.  Council Member Chip Turner asked Mr. Page if he knew what type of 
business the applicant wanted to put in here.  Mr. Page stated that they would be able to do anything 
that is permitted in a Unified Business Development – which is similar to that which is permitted in 
the B-2 district.  Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Page if he knew what the building at the rear is 
currently used for or what it might be used for in the future.  Mr. Page said he does not know.  
Mayor Peterman asked Mr. Page if the owner had any qualms about the removal of the drive thru.  
Mr. Page said none had been voiced to him.  Council Member Albright asked Mr. Page if a 
previously mentioned possible grocery store or office space is permitted B-2 now.  Mr. Page 
explained that currently they are permitted any single use or any single tenant occupy all three (3) 
spaces.  He went on to say that the Unified Business Development restricts the uses, for example a 
daycare, but permits multiple business tenants in the same location.  

Mayor Peterman asked if anyone from the floor wanted to speak on this.  None were forthcoming.  
Being no further testimony, Mayor Peterman closed the Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing. 

Council Members expressed concern that the applicant was not in attendance to answer questions. 
City Attorney Keith Whited advised the Council that they are within the legal guidelines should they 
choose to table this item to the May 5, 2015 regularly scheduled Council Meeting.  Mr. Whited 
suggested a letter be sent to the applicant advising him of this. 

Mayor Peterman made the motion that we table this until next month and during that time, we ask 
the staff to send him a letter telling him about us desiring him to be here next month, seconded by 
Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Page 13 of 104



Requests and Petitions of Citizens 
City Manager Frankie Maness explained that this is a request for two (2) action items, both on the 
same application for a Non-Contiguous Annexation on Kimrey Road.  Mr. Maness indicated the 
subject property is divided into two (2) tracts, totaling approximately eighty-eight (88) acres.  Mr. 
Maness further explained that this is the first step in the annexation process which would require 
approval of the following: 

i. Approve Resolution requesting City Clerk to Investigate the Sufficiency. 
ii. Approve Resolution fixing date of Public Hearing on Question of Annexation. 

 
Council Member Kimrey questioned Mr. Maness about the Inter-Local Agreement between the 
Cities of Graham, Mebane and the County.  He asked if that agreement gives us the right to annex 
this property that is not in either Graham or Mebane’s ETJ (Extra Territorial Jurisdiction).  Mr. 
Maness advised that with an annexation, permission is not required by the County as long as we stay 
within the bounds of the State Statutes. 
 
Council Member Kimrey made the motion to approve the Resolution Directing the Clerk to 
Investigate a Petition Received Under G.S. 160A-58.1 for Property on Kimrey Rd., seconded by 
Council Member Albright.  All voted in favor of the motion.  

 

Page 14 of 104



 
Mayor Peterman made the motion to approve the Resolution Fixing Date of Public Hearing on 
Question of Annexation Pursuant to G.S. 160A-58.2 for Property on Kimrey Rd – the date being 
May 5, 2015, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Linens.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

Page 15 of 104



 

Page 16 of 104



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17 of 104



Recommendations from Planning Board: 
Public Hearing: Graham Manor (CR1501).  Request by James B. Smith, United Developers, 
Inc. for a 56 unit senior apartment housing complex located on Auto Park Drive (GPIN 
8883091817). 
 
Mr. Page explained that this request is to rezone the property from R-18 & I-1 to Conditional 
Residential.  The purpose of the rezoning is to allow a senior rental community.   
 
Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing.  Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Page if he was 
accurate with saying in neighborhood residential development, apartments are not listed as a use in a 
development checklist.  Mr. Page replied that is correct.   
 
Mr. Bill Owen, 1416 Pine Valley Loop Fayetteville N.C., addressed the Council on behalf of United 
Developers.  Mr. Owen advised Council that United Developers has been in the affordable housing 
market for over thirty-five (35) years.  He went on to say that they currently have built, own and 
manage over thirty-five hundred (3,500) units in N.C. and S.C.  Mr. Owen said this community 
would be restricted to individuals over the age of fifty-five (55).  He further stated that they 
commissioned a third party market feasibility for a senior development.  Mr. Owen advised that the 
results of the study were very favorable and as a result, they notified by letter all adjacent property 
owners of their plan.  They invited all of the property owners to an open meeting at the Civic Center 
to hear of their proposal.  Mr. Owen showed those in tonight’s attendance artist renderings of the 
development and indicated that all of the City’s requirements with construction will be met. 
 
Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Owen about their guest policy.  Mr. Owen stated that all guests 
must be registered and cannot stay longer than two (2) weeks per year.  In addition, Council 
Member Kimrey inquired about on site management as well as tax credit repayment.  Mr. Owen said 
that he anticipates that on site management would exceed thirty (30) hours per week.  He further 
stated that annual federal tax credits to the states require the property to be maintained in how it is 
presented for a thirty (30) year period.  
 
Council Member Albright inquired as to the tax credit application process.  Mr. Owen stated that the 
preliminary application was submitted in January of this year.  He went on to say that at that time, 
NC Housing Finance conducts a review of and scores each site.  He indicated that they received the 
maximum score for this site.  The final part of the application must be submitted by May 15, 2015.  
Council Member Albright asked Mr. Page what could happen to the property after thirty (30) years.  
Mr. Page stated that if this Conditional Residential is approved, then it would have to come before 
City Council to amend the Conditional Residential down the line. 
 
Mr. Jim Smith, 2004 Raeford Rd Fayetteville N.C., stepped forward to answer additional questions 
from the Council regarding the monitoring of the guest policy.  Mr. Smith explained that very rarely 
is a guest on site for the maximum two (2) week period.  He said that with their other properties, it’s 
normally the residents themselves that will bring to management’s attention that there is someone 
on site that isn’t supposed to be there.  He stated that it’s not an issue in their other developments.  
He went on to say that the reality of it is that most of their units, whether it be a one (1) bedroom or 
two (2) bedroom unit, only have one (1) person living in it. 
 

Page 18 of 104



Mayor Peterman asked about the buffering.  Mr. Owen said that the fencing that they have been 
requested to include would be on three (3) sides.  He anticipates that it will be a black chain link 
fence that will be located within the buffer area and would not be visible from the road.  Mayor 
Peterman asked what the estimated time frame of the project will be if they are approved.  Mr. 
Owen stated that they expect to be operational by the end of 2016. 
 
Mr. Tom Boney, of the Alamance News, asked if only one (1) of these projects can be approved in 
Alamance County.  Mr. Owen stated yes.  Mr. Boney asked for confirmation that the Conditional 
Rezoning being requested was for this project only and could not be modified in the future should 
this project be approved and not receive funding.  Mr. Page replied yes. 
 
Being no further questions, Mayor Peterman closed the Public Hearing.  Council Members 
discussed amongst themselves subjects such as the age requirement and the impact on schools being 
a non-factor with a project of this nature.  Council Member Albright stated that the lack of 
opposition to the project speaks volumes. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Linens made the motion that the application be approved with the following 
conditions: 

• The final site plan must be submitted to and approved by the TRC before a building permit 
and/or certificate of occupancy will be issued. 

• The size and layout of the stormwater treatment device will be evaluated as part of final site plan 
review. If these necessitate a shift in the location of buildings or parking, these revisions will 
maintain the general layout of the site as proposed and will conform to all ordinance 
requirements for multifamily, or they will be considered major revisions. 

• A fence be provided between the undisturbed areas to the rear and sides of the property with the 
intention of safeguarding the residents from the undisturbed areas. 

• The undisturbed area be undisturbed for at least 30 years; 
 

And the application is consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020.  Council 
Member Albright seconded the motion.  Ayes: Mayor Pro Tem Linens, Council Member Albright 
and Mayor Peterman Nays: Council Member Kimrey and Council Member Turner.  Motion carried 
3:2. 
 
 
Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing: DaVita Dialysis (SUP8301).  Request by Richard Porterfield 
to amend the Special Use Permit at Kourescent Properties (currently the Just Save), to allow 
for a new tenant on the vacant parcel on the corner of Auto Park and W Crescent Square 
Drive (GPIN 8883192554). 
 
Mayor Peterman opened the Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing and polled the Council for any financial 
interests, fixed opinions or communications regarding the property.  Council Member Kimrey 
disclosed that he attended the Planning & Zoning Board meeting.  Mayor Peterman asked Council 
Member Kimrey if he felt that would sway his decision one way or another.  Council Member 
Kimrey replied no.  Mayor Peterman asked if anyone objected.  No one objected. 
 
Ms. Sperry swore in Mr. Maness, Mr. Page, Mr. Leinwand, Mr. Greg Hill and Mr. Allen Hill. 
 

Page 19 of 104



Mr. Page explained that this is an application from Richard Porterfield, with Total Renal Care, to 
amend the Special Use Permit for the Kourescent Properties located on South Main Street along 
Crescent Square Drive and Auto Park.  He further explained that the application is to build on the 
parcel to the extreme southwest proposed to be used for a DaVita Dialysis Center. 
 
Council Member Kimrey asked Mr. Page about Staff’s recommendation of sidewalks.  Mr. Page 
indicated that the sidewalk request was to complete the network extending from South Main Street 
to Hanford Road.  He stated that they were aware of the possible development of the senior 
housing complex previous to this request. 
 
Mayor Peterman asked if anyone from the floor wanted to speak on this. 
 
Mr. Greg Hill, 901 Moss Lane Winter Park, FL., addressed the Council.  He indicated that he was 
representing Mr. Porterfield in this matter.  Mr. Hill and Mr. Maness both advised that the engineers 
for both the project and the City have resolved storm water runoff issues and asked that the 
sidewalk in-lieu-of payment request be eliminated as a condition of approval.  Council Member 
Kimrey inquired about offsite improvement vs. an onsite improvement pertaining to sidewalks.  Mr. 
Maness stated that most of the sidewalks would be on existing DOT right of way, making the 
sidewalk not part of the site itself.  
 
Being no further testimony, Mayor Peterman closed the Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing. 

Council Member Kimrey made the motion that the application be approved with the following 
condition: 

• A final site plan must be submitted to and approved by the TRC before a building permit and/or 
certificate of occupancy will be issued. As part of final site plan review, the layout of the parking 
and sidewalks may change to meet Development ordinance and other requirements, including 
NCDOT;  

 
And adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as presented in the staff report and the 
application is consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020.  Council Member 
Turner seconded the motion.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

1. All applicable regulations of the zoning district in which the use is proposed are complied with. 

The property is zoned B-2. “Unified Business Development” is permitted in the B-2 zoning district with a 
Special Use Permit. The proposed development meets the area, height and yard regulations. Signs will require a 
sign permit.  

2. Conditions specific to each use, identified by the Development Ordinance, are complied with. 

The following requirements are specific to this use: 
• Such developments shall abut a major thoroughfare, minor arterial, or collector street 

(existing or proposed). This existing Unified Business Development abuts NC 87/S 
Main St, which is a major thoroughfare. 

Page 20 of 104



• All uses permitted in the B-2 district are permitted in a Unified Business Development, 
with the exception of certain uses which are not permitted. Doctor’s offices are 
permitted in the B-2 district and are not prohibited in a Unified Business Development. 

• All business establishments shall be retail or service establishments dealing directly with 
the public. The proposed office directly serves the public. 

• All uses shall be completely enclosed in buildings except for plant sales, sidewalk cafes, 
and permitted drive-in uses. The proposed office is completely enclosed. 

• An opaque screen shall be provided wherever, in the city council’s judgment, such 
screening is necessary to shield adjacent residential districts. There are no adjacent 
residential districts that would require screening. 

3. The use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and 
developed according to the plan as submitted. 

The proposed office, to be located within an existing Unified Business Development, will not materially endanger 
the public health or safety. 

4. The use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining property or that the use is a public 
necessity. 

The proposed office, to be located within an existing Unified Business Development, will not substantially injure 
the value of adjoining property. 

5. The location and character of the use if developed according to the plan as submitted will be in 
harmony with the area in which it is to be located and in general conformity with the plan of 
development for the Graham planning area. 

The proposed office, to be located within an existing Unified Business Development, is a commercial use that will 
be located in an existing highway commercial corridor and is in general conformity with the Growth Management 
Plan 2000-2020. 

6. Satisfactory provision has been made for the following, when applicable: vehicle circulation, 
parking and loading, service entrances and areas, screening, utilities, signs and lighting, and open 
space. 

Satisfactory provision has been made for vehicle circulation, parking, service entrances and areas, utilities, and 
lighting. 

 
 
Public Hearing: Border St. Multifamily (RZ1501).  Request by Chris Foust to rezone a parcel 
located at 515 Border Street from R-7 to R-MF (GPIN 8874877208). 
 
Mr. Page explained that this is a request by Chris Foust to rezone the property from R-7 to R-MF.  
He advised that the property is currently vacant.  He said the stated reason for this rezoning is to 
allow for two (2) to three (3) attached duplex units.   
 
Mr. Chris Foust, 1851 South Main Street Graham, N.C., stepped forward to give a brief overview of 
the project and to answer questions.  He pointed out that the units would be similar to those he has 
previously built on Washington Street.  A picture of that project was shown to those in attendance.   

Page 21 of 104



He indicated that the units would face Oakley Street and that he would be cutting down the lot a 
little – as it is a little steep right now.  Council Member Turner asked Mr. Foust how much he 
intends to drop the grade.  Mr. Foust replied probably two (2) feet.  Mr. Boney asked Mr. Foust how 
many total units would be on the site.  Mr. Foust indicated that there will be four (4) to five (5) total 
units. 
 
Being no further questions, Mayor Peterman closed the Public Hearing.   
 
Council Member Albright made the motion that the application be approved and that the 
application is consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020, seconded by 
Council Member Kimrey.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 
 
Public Hearing: Patterson Place (CR0502).  Request by Mark Richardson to amend the 
orig inal Conditional Mixed-Use Residential application located on Cheeks Lane (GPIN 
8883552739, 8883569808, 8883359916 and 8883367159). 
 
Mr. Page explained that this is a request by Mr. Mark Richardson to amend the original Conditional 
Mixed-Use Residential that was approved in 2005.  He stated that amendment is just for the 
originally planned one hundred-twelve (112) unit townhomes in the southeast corner of the property 
accessible off of Cheeks Lane.  The applicant is proposing an eighty (80) rental multi-family dwelling 
units for seniors.  Mr. Page indicated that the site must now conform to storm water regulations due 
to the change from the original proposal.   
 
Council Members and Mr. Page discussed the buffer area, the reduction in the number of units as 
well as how this new proposal impacts the proposed Southern Loop.  Mr. Page pointed out that the 
new proposal does include buffering internal to the site and the right of way.  In addition, Mr. Page 
said the developer would ensure the proposed Southern Loop location remain unchanged.  He also 
indicated that the developer is reducing the number of units on this proposal but maintaining the 
same shape as the original townhome portion of the plan.  Mr. Page stated that these units will not 
be owner occupied. 
 
Mr. Nate Gainey, 413 Old Farm Drive Graham, N.C., expressed concern over a possible increase in 
heavy equipment in his neighborhood.  Mr. Glenn Patterson, 1310 South Main Street Graham, N.C., 
spoke on behalf of the developer.  He stated that the area to be developed is only on the Cheeks 
Lane side of the property.  He mentioned that they will have to access the sewer on the Old Farm 
Dr. side of the property, but that should be the only time heavy equipment will be present in that 
area.  
 
Mr. David Vanover, 506 Cheeks Lane Graham, N.C., asked about buffering between the proposed 
project and his property.  Mr. Page indicated that the developer will be required to plant a type “B” 
standard planting yard which is required between a Multi-Family Residential and a Single Family 
Residence.  Mr. Maness indicated that a type “B” planting yard is the second densest planting yard 
we have.  Mr. Vanover also expressed concern over an increase in traffic and the inability to 
discharge firearms on his property due to units being located directly behind his rear property line.  
Mr. Maness pointed out that the density in what is being proposed is less than what has already been 
approved.   

Page 22 of 104



Mr. Brad Parker of Greenway Development stepped forward to speak on behalf of the developer.  
Mr. Parker gave a brief overview of the project – stating that it is similar to the Graham Manor 
project presented earlier in the evening.  He said his project consists of single story, cottage style 
units with every unit having a front porch and rear patio.  Mr. Parker stated that there is a high 
demand for affordable housing for seniors. 
 
Mr. John Wood, 125 North Harrington Street Raleigh, N.C., spoke on behalf of Cline Design 
Associates.  He stated that there will be twelve (12) separate buildings with six (6) to seven (7) units 
in it.  He further stated that the project is designed for the active over fifty-five (55) year old 
community.  Mr. Wood stated that because this proposal is for seniors and is a lesser unit count than 
previously proposed, the traffic volume is expected to significantly lower that what a townhome 
project would produce. 
 
Council Members asked Mr. Wood if the age restriction, on site management and the preliminary 
application steps would be similar to the Graham Manor project.  Mr. Wood indicated they would 
be.  Mr. Wood was asked if they exercise a management style similar to that of Graham Manor 
pertaining to visitors and to how many residents allowed per bedroom.  Mr. Wood stated that they 
follow the same policies.   
 
Being no further questions, Mayor Peterman closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Council Member Kimrey made the motion that the application be approved with the following 
conditions:  

• The project will supply a sidewalk along Cheeks Lane. 

• The final site plan must be submitted to and approved by the TRC before a building permit 
and/or certificate of occupancy will be issued; 

 
And the application is consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020.  Council 
Member Albright seconded the motion.  Ayes: Council Member Kimrey, Council Member Albright, 
Mayor Peterman and Mayor Pro Tem Linens Nays: Council Member Turner.  Motion carried 4:1. 
 
 
Public Hearing: City of Graham Comprehensive Plan 2035. Review of the final draft and 
adoption. 
 
Mr. Roger Walden of Clarion Associates gave an overview of the plan being proposed.  He stated 
that he believes the Comprehensive Plan should answer three (3) questions: 

 
• Where are we today? 
• Where do we want to go? 
• How do we get there? 

 
Mr. Walden stated that they have spent the past year and a half working on this plan.  He stated that 
during this time, they gathered information from a variety of interviews done with members of the 
community.   

Page 23 of 104



In addition, Clarion Associates interviewed stakeholders, held several public meetings and reviewed 
internet inquiries.  Based on these interviews, they built the components of this plan – identifying 
the key issues as: 
 

• Building upon our Community Character 
• Bringing Business to Graham 
• Accessing Local and Regional Opportunities 
• Enhancing our Public Facilities and Services 
• Expanding our Housing Options 
• Conserving our Natural Environment   

 
Mr. Walden spoke of existing land use patterns as well as future land use.  He stated that the future 
land use map will establish desired development patterns and will serve as a blueprint for future 
growth.  He also explained that the future land use map will also serve as a guide for future zoning 
decisions made in Graham.  Mr. Walden identified the key issues with the land use map as the North 
Carolina Commerce Park (NCCP), the downtown area, the areas around the interstate interchanges, 
residential developments and several policy statements that try to take advantage of the 
infrastructure already in place.   

Council Members discussed with Mr. Walden the Planning Board’s recommendation that there be 
notification given to all citizens about the change their property may encounter with the adoption of 
this plan.  It was noted that there has been an extensive outreach to the public, including but not 
limited to, multiple public meetings, mailings and information posted on the internet.  Mr. Walden 
was asked if he felt there were any key areas that would need personal notification.  He said he did 
not believe there were.  Council Members expressed concern over adopting this plan without further 
reviewing it.  Council Members ultimately decided that they would like to schedule a workshop to 
review the plan and make any changes in the plan or decisions regarding notification at that time. 
 
Mayor Peterman asked Mr. Maness to schedule a future workshop to review the 2035 
Comprehensive Plan in greater detail. 
 

An Ordinance of the City Council of the City Of Graham, Amending Chapter 
10 – Cemeteries of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Graham, North 
Carolina 
Mr. Leinwand explained that Staff has been working on an ordinance creating a Cemetery Perpetual 
Care Fund, to be used as a guide for Staff and Council to spend funds collected from Graham’s two 
(2) cemeteries.  Mr. Leinwand stated that without a Perpetual Care Fund Ordinance, the monies in 
the cemetery fund will continue to accumulate and earn interest.  The funds cannot be expended nor 
earmarked without an ordinance, and the City’s General Fund will continue to be used exclusively for 
the operation and maintenance of the cemeteries. 
 
Council Members and Staff discussed costs associated with maintaining the City’s cemeteries.  Mr. 
Maness stated that the interest we earn is nowhere near enough to cover the expenses of maintaining 
the cemeteries.  Mr. Maness further explained that the principal in this fund will never be spent while 
the interest would be expendable for the maintenance and appearance of the cemeteries.   

Page 24 of 104



Mr. Maness went on to say that this Ordinance would help supplement those funds currently allocated 
in the General Fund. 
 
Council Member Turner made the motion to approve the Ordinance to adopt Sect. 10-34 Cemeteries 
Perpetual Care Fund, seconded by Council Member Albright.  All voted in favor of the motion. 
 

 
 

Page 25 of 104



Issues Not Included on Tonight’s Agenda 
Council Member Albright informed those in attendance that they hoped that the fountain located 
between the Graham Library and the Children’s Museum of Alamance would be dedicated next 
week commemorating the children of Alamance County. 

 
At 10:06 p.m. Mayor Peterman made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Council Member Turner.  
All voted in favor of the motion. 
 

 
_____________________________ 

      Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 

Page 26 of 104



Page 27 of 104



Page 28 of 104



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: CLOSURE OF 100 BLOCK OF WEST ELM ST. ON SEPTEMBER 10, 
2015 

PREPARED BY: MELODY L. WIGGINS, DIRECTOR OF RECREATION AND PARKS 

 
REQUESTED ACTION:   

The Recreation and Parks Department requests the closure of the 100 block of W. Elm St. in downtown Graham on 
September 10, 2015 for a bonus concert in the Thursday At Seven concert series. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

City Council has approved the closure of the 100 block of West Elm St. for the regularly scheduled concerts, the 
fourth Thursday of each month, May – September.  Strong sponsor support from the community has afforded the 
Recreation and Parks Department the opportunity to add a sixth concert.  The closure will occur from 5pm-11pm.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Sponsorship money already received will cover the complete cost of the bonus concert.  The concert will attract 
hundreds of concert goers to downtown Graham which is a plus for downtown businesses, especially restaurants.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends approving closure of the 100 block of West Elm St. on September 10, 2015 from 5pm-11pm for 
the bonus concert in the Thursday At Seven concert series. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I MAKE A MOTION TO APPROVE THE CLOSURE OF THE 100 BLOCK OF WEST ELM STREET ON SEPTEMBER 10, 2015 FROM 5PM-11PM FOR 

THE BONUS CONCERT IN THE THURSDAY AT SEVEN CONCERT SERIES.  

 

Page 29 of 104



STAFF REPORT 
Prepared by Nathan Page, Interim City Planner 

Apex View UBD and Community Center 
(SUP1501) 

Type of Request: Special Use Permit 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on March 17, 2015 
City Council on May 5, 2015 

Contact Information 
Thangaraju Muruegsan 
503 Front Ridge Dr. Cary NC 27519 
919-308-0255 
apexview14@yahoo.com 

Summary 
This is a request for a Special Use Permit for a Community Center 
and Unified Business Development (UBD) for property located at 
602 W. Elm St. There is an existing building on the site – 
previously the Simmons Center. The existing drive-thru is to be 
utilized. The total building square footage is 23,000, with two 
4,000 sq ft units, and one 15,000 sq ft unit. Additionally, one of 
the smaller units is proposed as a community center. 

 

Location 
602 W. Elm St 

GPIN: 8874759635 

Proposed Special Use 
Unified Business Development 

and Community Center 

Current Zoning 
Light Industrial (I-1) and General 

Business (B-2) 

Overlay District 
N/A 

Surrounding Zoning 
B-2, R-7, & I-1 

Surrounding Land Uses 
Single Family Houses, Duplex 
Houses, General Businesses & 

Light Industrial 

Public Water & Sewer 
Yes 

Floodplain 
No 

Staff Recommendation 
Approval 

Page 36 of 104



This site was originally developed in 1967, as a multi-tenant building (unified business development). 
This occurred before the adoption of a Special Uses clause for buildings with multiple tenants in our 
ordinance.  However, given that the site remained vacant for greater than 180 days, a new Special Use 
Permit is now required to allow for multiple tenants. The location currently has 110 parking spaces.  

The building, with a total of about 23,000 sq ft, was subdivided into three units (1, 2, and 3). Unit 1 is 
about 15,000 sq ft and was used as a supermarket/grocery and meat market business. Units 2 and 3, 
about 4,000 sq ft and 4,100 sq ft, remained vacant spaces that can be used for any purpose. Currently, 
one prospective tenant intends to use Unit 2 to run a Party hall/Event center/Community center. Some 
other proposed uses are to run a non-profit adoption and rescue center, church, gym, or dollar tree etc. 
in Unit 3. 

Since the proposal is to use an existing building as is, no landscaping is required to be installed by the 
owner. However, if the owner were to expand over 3,000 sq ft or begin new construction, they would 
have to meet landscaping requirements in relation to the expansion or new construction. 

Conformity to the Growth Management Plan (GMP) and Other Adopted Plans 
Planning District: North 

Development Type: Highway Commercial 

Applicable Goals to Guide Us into the Future 

• 6.1.2. Continue to support efforts that identify, restore 
and/or reuse cultural and historic structures, buildings, 
monuments, and neighborhoods. The existing structure was 
constructed in 1967, and this special use permit would allow 
a reuse of the building which has been vacant for some time. 

• 6.2.3. Provide various and adequate community facilities for 
all residents throughout the city. This special use permit 
would allow a privately owned community center facility in 
the northern part of the city. 

• 6.3.2 Encourage commercial development that utilizes 
effective landscaping and buffering to aid in improving the 
overall aesthetics of the community. The development on this 
site pre-dates current landscaping ordinances. Unless 
alterations specified above take place, no landscaping will be 
required. 

• 6.3.2. Prohibit the encroachment of commercial development into established or planned 
residential areas. The building is located in an identified highway commercial corridor. 

• 6.3.8. Encourage the reuse and revitalization of unused or underutilized structures and properties. 
This special use permit would allow new uses in an existing building which has been underutilized. 

Description of Development Type 
North 

Development Toolkit Checklist 
Located near a major 

thoroughfare 

With commercial and 
Office/Institutional Uses 

Characteristics include  
strip development, automobile 

orientation, sidewalks, 
landscaping, buffering, on-site 

parking 

10.001 to 100,000 sq ft of retail 

Infrastructure includes water, 
sewer, street connectivity and 

underground utilities 

Page 37 of 104



Applicable Planning District Policies and Recommendations 

• 7.3.4.1.1. Encourage infill development within the district, as well as redevelopment efforts of 
deteriorating structures. This special use permit would permit the reuse of a building designed as a 
shopping center. 

• 7.3.4.1.5. Prohibit the continuation of additional commercial strip development along major 
thoroughfares. The development will not add additional commercial strip, but reuse a site which was 
already developed as auto-oriented. 

DRAFT Findings of Fact and Conclusions 
In granting a special use permit, the City Council shall find that all of the six conditions listed below have 
been met, or it shall be denied. Staff has prepared the following DRAFT findings of fact for each of the 
six conditions. These findings should be modified by the Council as it considers its decision. 

1. All applicable regulations of the zoning district in which the use is proposed are complied with. 

o The property is zoned B-2 and I-1. “Unified Business Development” is permitted in both the B-2 and 
I-1 districts. The property will allow all uses allowed in a B-2 district, with the exceptions as noted 
our ordinance, under section 10.149. 

o The existing signs appear to conform to our ordinance. Any new or replaced signs will need sign 
permits. 

o The existing building may be nonconforming with respect to side and rear yard setbacks, but no 
new construction is proposed that would increase these nonconformities.  

o The property may also be nonconforming with regards to screening of adjacent residentially zoned 
properties.  

2. Conditions specific to each use, identified by the Development Ordinance, are complied with. 

o There are no conditions specific to “community centers.” 
o All uses permitted in the B-2 district are permitted in a Unified Business Development, with the 

exception of certain uses which are not permitted. The only use specified for this Unified Business 
Development is the community center. That use is permitted in the B-2 district with a special use 
permit, and is not prohibited in Unified Business Developments. All future uses to be located within 
the UBD will be required to obtain a Zoning Permit prior to occupancy. 

o All uses shall be completely enclosed in buildings except for plant sales, sidewalk cafes, and 
permitted drive-in uses. The proposed uses are completely enclosed, with the exception of the 
proposed drive-thru window. Drive-in establishments offering goods or services directly to 
customers in parked cars shall be permitted only when the locations of the builds and access drives 
have been approved by the city council. This proposal includes a drive-thru window, which is 
seeking the approval of City Council. 

o An opaque screen shall be provided wherever, in the city council’s judgment, such screening is 
necessary to shield adjacent residential districts. There is a residential zone to the rear of the 
building, zoned R-7, and currently occupied by single family residential. 

o Off-street parking for 110 spaces is currently provided. A 15,000 sq ft grocery would require 75 
spaces, the 4,100 sq ft community center 21 spaces, and a 4,000 sq ft service establishment 
dealing frequently with the public another 20. This would require a total of 116. However, if the 

Page 38 of 104



uses are service establishments dealing infrequently with the public and low-volume retailers, the 
smaller units could require as little as 14 additional parking spaces, for a total of 89. If all three 
units require 1 spot per 200 sq ft (the required for high volume retail, service establishments 
dealing frequently with the public, and community centers), the site would require 6 additional 
spaces. 

o The property is located along a major thoroughfare, minor arterial, or collector street (existing or 
proposed). This UBD abuts West Elm Street/Highway 87, which is a principal arterial. 

o The property is also nonconforming for landscaping, but would not be required to meet current 
ordinances unless the site adds more than 3,000 sq ft. or constructs a new building .In which case, 
said modifications would only be required in relation to the expansion or new construction. 

3. The use will not materially endanger the public health or safety if located where proposed and 
developed according to the plan as submitted. 

o The reuse of the location as a shopping center will not materially endanger the public health or 
safety. 

4. The use will not substantially injure the value of adjoining property or that the use is a public 
necessity. 

o The proposed UBD will not substantially injure the value of adjoining property. 

5. The location and character of the use if developed according to the plan as submitted will be in 
harmony with the area in which it is to be located and in general conformity with the plan of 
development for the Graham planning area. 

o The community center and unified business district will be located along a major road in a highway 
commercial corridor and is in general conformity with the Growth Management Plan 2000-2020 

6. Satisfactory provision has been made for the following, when applicable: vehicle circulation, parking 
and loading, service entrances and areas, screening, utilities, signs and lighting, and open space. 

o Public water and sewer, parking and loading, service entrances and areas, utilities, and signs and 
lighting are satisfactorily provided. 

o Vehicle circulation is being proposed to remain as is. City Council must approve the proposed 
location of the drive-thru window, as well as access drives. 

o Parking is being proposed to remain as is.  

Staff Recommendation 
Based on the Growth Management Plan 2000-2020 and the City of Graham Development Ordinance, 
staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit. The following supports this recommendation: 

• The development furthers goals of the Growth Management Plan and is in conformance with the 
Highway Commercial development type. 

• The development meets all six conditions required by Section 10.144 of the Development Ordinance. 

Page 39 of 104



Page 40 of 104



Page 41 of 104



City Council 
Decision & Statement of Consistency 

Per NCGS 160A-383, zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with 
an adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially adopted plan 
that is applicable. When adopting or rejecting any zoning amendment, 
the City Council shall also approve a statement describing whether its 
action is consistent with the comprehensive plan and briefly explaining 
why the City Council considers the action taken to be reasonable and in 
the public interest. The Planning Board shall provide a written 
recommendation to the City Council, but a comment by the Planning 
Board that a proposed amendment is inconsistent with the 
comprehensive plan shall not preclude consideration or approval of the 
proposed amendment by the City Council. 

1. Choose one… 

 I move that the application be APPROVED as presented. 

 I move that the application be APPROVED with the following conditions: 

o The existing drive-thru window be closed and the lane be removed. 
o  [Insert additional or other conditions] 

 I move that the application be DENIED. 

2. Choose one… 

 I move to adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as presented in the staff report. 

 I move to adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law presented in the staff report  
with the following revisions: 
o [Clearly describe revisions] 

3. Choose one… 

 The application is consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020. 

 The application is not fully consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020. 

4. State reasons… 

This action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reasons: 
o The proposed special use permit is compatible with the area and meets all six conditions required 

by Section 10.144 of the Development Ordinance. 
o  [insert additional or other reasons] 

This report reflects the decision of the City Council, this the 5th day of May, 2015. Attest: 

    
Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor  Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

Apex View UBD and Community Center 
(SUP1501) 

Type of Request 
Special Use Permit 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on March 17, 2015 

City Council on May 5, 2015 

Page 42 of 104



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ANNEXATION OF PROPERTY AT KIMREY RD 

PREPARED BY: NATHAN PAGE, INTERIM CITY PLANNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Annexation Ordinance to Extend the 
Corporate Limits of the City of Graham, North Carolina for 
Property at Kimrey Road.  

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The attached petition seeks the Council’s approval for an 
extension of the corporate limits to include the subject 
property.  The area being considered for annexation is the 
parcel located on Kimrey Road (Tract 1; 84.433 acres, and 
Tract 2; 3.901 acres).  The area is not contiguous to the 
primary corporate limits of the City of Graham. 

The annexation process has multiple steps.  Following a 
public hearing, approval of an Annexation Ordinance is the 
final step for Council in the annexation process. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact of this property is negligible. The 88.334 acres are currently valued around $5.489.33/acre (non-farm use). 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  Annexation of the subject property will afford the property access to City services.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the Annexation Ordinance to Extend the Corporate Limits of the City of Graham, North Carolina for 
property at Kimrey Road.

Page 43 of 104



ANNEXATION ORDINANCE 
TO EXTEND THE CORPORATE LIMITS 

OF THE 
CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA 

FOR PROPERTY AT KIMREY ROAD 

 WHEREAS, the Graham City Council has been petitioned under G.S. 160A-58.1 to annex the area 
described below; and  

WHEREAS, the Graham City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to investigate the sufficiency 
of the petition; and  

WHEREAS, the City Clerk has certified the sufficiency of the petition and a public hearing on the question 
of this annexation was held at City Hall, 201 South Main Street, Graham at 7:00 P.M. on May 5, 2015, after due 
notice by publication on April 23, 2015; and 

WHEREAS, the Graham City Council finds that the petition meets the requirements of G.S. 160A-58.1;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina that:  

Section 1. By virtue of the authority granted by G.S. 160A-58.1, the following described territory is 
hereby annexed and made part of the City of Graham as of May 31, 2015: 

TRACT 1 AREA TO BE ANNEXED 
METES & BOUNDS DESCRIPTION 

 
 
BEING A TRACT OF LAND SITUATED AT THE NORTHWEST RIGHT OF WAY OF KIMREY ROAD (S.R. 2125), A PORTION OF TAX IDS: 159502 & 159503, 
SITUATED IN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF ALAMANCE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
COMMENCING AT NCGS STATION "GUVNOR" HAVING NC GRID COORDINATES IN U.S. SURVEY FEET OF NORTH 839,741.12 AND EAST 1,897,712.00; 
 
THENCE, S 72°50'06" E, A HORIZONTAL GRID DISTANCE OF 2,798.27 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT, THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
 
THENCE, IN A CLOCKWISE DIRECTION, N 54°37'42" E, 1,141.25 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,030.00', A DELTA OF 003°31’27”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 124.87 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 124.85 FEET BEARING N 52°51'58" E TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, N 51°06'15" E, 149.89 FEET TO A FOUND ¾” PIPE, THE WESTERN CORNER OF THAT WAL-MART STORES EAST LP PARCEL RECORDED IN BOOK 
3352, PAGE 601, ACR; 
 
THENCE, S 40°31'34" E, 2,757.64 FEET TO A FOUND 3/4” PIPE ON THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY LINE OF KIMREY ROAD (60’ PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY), 
MAP BOOK 65, PAGE 177, ACR; 
 
THENCE, WITH THE NORTHERLY RIGHT OF WAY OF KIMREY ROAD THESE FOLLOWING SEVEN (7) COURSES;  
 

1. S 62°26’38” W, 214.93 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 

2. S 63°31’49” W, 130.18 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 

3. S 67°35’48” W, 218.73 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT;  
 

4. S 68°20’37” W, 305.36 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 

5. S 67°47’44” W, 316.89 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 

6. S 68°42’20” W, 171.75 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 

7. S 69°59’44” W, 129.24 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, N 40°23'47" W, 2,423.69 FEET TO POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING 84.433 ACRES OR 3,677,901.57 SQUARE FEET OF LAND, AS 
SHOWN ON THAT “FINAL PLAT SHOWING: CORPORATE LIMITS EXTENSION CITY OF GRAHAM” MAP PREPARED BY THE SURVEY COMPANY INC., DATED 
MARCH 27, 2015. SIGNED BY CHARLES S. LOGUE, NC PLS #L-4212. 
 
 

TRACT 2 AREA TO BE ANNEXED 
METES & BOUNDS DESCRIPTION 

 
 
BEING A TRACT OF LAND SITUATED AT THE NORTHEAST RIGHT OF WAY GOVERNOR SCOTT FARM ROAD (S.R. 2124), A PORTION OF TAX IDS: 159502 & 
159503, SITUATED IN THE UNINCORPORATED AREA OF ALAMANCE COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND 
BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
COMMENCING AT NCGS STATION "GUVNOR" HAVING NC GRID COORDINATES IN U.S. SURVEY FEET OF NORTH 839,741.12 AND EAST 1,897,712.00; 
 
THENCE, S 42°43'16" E, A HORIZONTAL GRID DISTANCE OF 2205.66 FEET TO A FOUND #4 REBAR IN THE CENTERLINE OF GOVERNOR SCOTT FARM ROAD 
(A 60’ WIDE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY),THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 
 
THENCE, IN A CLOCKWISE DIRECTION, N 49°51'03" E, 35.78 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT, ON THE EASTERN PROPERTY LINE OF THAT CARL A. 
WESTMAN PARCEL RECORDED IN BOOK 2976, PAGE 166, ACR; 
 
THENCE, S 46°24'08" E, 40.91 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, N 60°06'44" E, 61.91 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, N 51°58'56" E, 192.96 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,970.00', A DELTA OF 001°23’56”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 72.51 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 72.51 FEET BEARING N 51°16'58" E TO A CALCULATED POINT; 

Page 44 of 104



 
THENCE, N 50°34'59" E, 713.53 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,430.00', A DELTA OF 004°02’43”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 171.56 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 171.53 FEET BEARING N 52°36'21" E TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, N 54°37'42" E, 1,307.72 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 1,970.00', A DELTA OF 003°31’27”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 121.17 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 121.16 FEET BEARING N 52°51'58" E TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, N 51°06'15" E, 148.18 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT ON THE WESTERLY LINE OF THAT KIMREY FARMS LLC PARCEL RECORDED IN BOOK 3304, 
PAGE 397, ACR; 
 
THENCE, S 40°31'38" E, 60.00 FEET TO A FOUND ¾” PIPE, THE WESTERN CORNER OF THAT WAL-MART STORES EAST LP PARCEL RECORDED IN BOOK 
3352, PAGE 601, ACR; 
 
THENCE, S 51°06'15" W, 149.89 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,030.00', A DELTA OF 003°31’27”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 124.87 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 124.85 FEET BEARING S 52°51'58" W TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 54°37'42" W, 1,141.25 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 54°37'42" W, 166.48 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 2,370.00', A DELTA OF 004°02’43”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 167.32 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 167.29 FEET BEARING S 52°36'21" W TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 50°34'59" W, 713.53 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, WITH AN ARC OF A CIRCULAR CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 3,030.00', A DELTA OF 001°23’56”, AN ARC LENGTH OF 73.98 FEET 
AND A CHORD OF 73.98 FEET BEARING S 51°16'58" W TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 51°58'56" W, 194.25 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 42°53'55" W, 62.14 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 30°08'32" E, 85.24 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT; 
 
THENCE, S 51°43'22" W, 27.77 FEET TO A CALCULATED POINT IN THE CENTERLINE OF GOVERNOR SCOTT FARM ROAD; 
 
THENCE, N 38°16'38" W, 202.27 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING 3.901 ACRES OR 175,618.05 SQUARE FEET OF LAND, AS SHOWN 
ON THAT “FINAL PLAT SHOWING: CORPORATE LIMITS EXTENSION CITY OF GRAHAM” MAP PREPARED BY THE SURVEY COMPANY INC., DATED MARCH 
27, 2015. SIGNED BY CHARLES S. LOGUE, NC PLS #L-4212. 

Section 2. Upon and after May 31, 2015, the above-described territory and its citizens and 
property shall be subject to all debts, laws, ordinances and regulations in force in the City of Graham and shall be 
entitled to the same privileges and benefits as other parts of the City of Graham.  Said territory shall be subject to 
municipal taxes according to G.S. 160A-58.10.   

Section 3. The Mayor of the City of Graham shall cause to be recorded in the office of the Register 
of Deeds of Alamance County, and in the office of the Secretary of State at Raleigh, North Carolina, an accurate 
map of the annexed territory described in Section 1 above, together with a duly certified copy of this Ordinance. 
Such a map shall also be delivered to the Alamance County Board of Elections, as required by G.S. 163-288.1.   

 

Adopted this, the 5th day of May, 2015. 

 

    
  Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

 

ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
    
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk  Keith Whited, City Attorney 

Page 45 of 104



 



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ANNEXATION OF PROPERTY AT 351 LONGDALE DRIVE 

PREPARED BY: NATHAN PAGE, INTERIM CITY PLANNER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the following (separately): 
1. Resolution Directing the Clerk to Investigate a Petition 

Received Under  
G.S. 160A-31 for Property at 351 Longdale Drive. 

2. Resolution Fixing Date of Public Hearing on Question of 
Annexation Pursuant to G.S. 160A-31 for Property at 351 
Longdale Drive. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The attached petition seeks the Council’s approval for an 
extension of the corporate limits to include the subject property. 
The area being considered for annexation is the parcel located at 
351 Longdale Drive (0.55 acres). 

The annexation process has multiple steps. The preliminary steps following receipt of a petition are to adopt two 
resolutions that are outlined in the “Requested Action” above. Approval of these resolutions does not finalize the 
annexation as Council is required to advertise and conduct a public hearing, followed by a vote on an annexation ordinance. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fiscal impact of this annexation is negligible. The area has city water and sewer available. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval. The adoption of the requested resolutions simply moves forward the annexation process. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

1. I move we approve the Resolution Directing the Clerk to Investigate a Petition Received Under G.S. 160A-31 for 
Property at 351 Longdale Drive. 

2. I move we approve the Resolution Fixing Date of Public Hearing on Question of Annexation Pursuant to G.S. 160A-31 
for Property at 351 Longdale Drive.

Page 47 of 104



RESOLUTION DIRECTING THE CLERK TO INVESTIGATE  
A PETITION RECEIVED UNDER G.S. 160A-31  
FOR PROPERTY AT 351 LONGDALE DRIVE 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of an area described in said petition was received on May 1, 2015, by the 
Graham City Council; and 

WHEREAS, G.S. 160A-31 provides that the sufficiency of the petition shall be investigated by the City Clerk before 
further annexation proceedings may take place; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Graham deems it advisable to proceed in response to this request for 
annexation. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Graham: 

That the City Clerk is hereby directed to investigate the sufficiency of the above described petition and to certify as 
soon as possible to the City Council the result of her investigation. 

 

    
  Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

   
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

 
  

Page 48 of 104



RESOLUTION FIXING DATE OF PUBLIC HEARING  
ON QUESTION OF ANNEXATION PURSUANT TO G.S. 160A-31  

FOR PROPERTY AT 351 LONGDALE DRIVE 

WHEREAS, a petition requesting annexation of the contiguous area described herein has been received; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has by resolution directed the City Clerk to investigate the sufficiency of the petition; and 

WHEREAS, certification by the City Clerk as to the sufficiency of the petition has been made; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina that: 

Section 1. A public hearing on the question of annexation of the area described herein will be held at the City Hall, 
201 S. Main Street, Graham, NC at 7:00pm on June 2, 2015. 

Section 2. The area proposed for annexation is described as follows: 

 

Section 3. Notice of the public hearing shall be published once in The Alamance News, a newspaper having general 
circulation in the City of Graham, at least ten (10) days prior to the date of the public hearing. 

 

    
  Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

   
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

Page 49 of 104



Page 50 of 104



 



PLANNING ZONING BOARD 
Tuesday, April 21, 2015 

 
The Planning & Zoning Board held their regular meeting on Tuesday, April 21, 2015 in the Council Chambers 
of the Graham Municipal Building at 7:00 p.m. Board members present were Dean Ward, Andy Rumley, 
Bonnie Blalock, Michael Benesch, and Ricky Hall. Kenneth Dixon and Bill Teer were absent. Staff members 
present were Nathan Page, Interim City Planner, Frankie Maness, City Manager, Martha Johnson, 
Zoning/Inspections Technician, and Michael Leinwand Special Projects Coordinator. 

 
Chair Andy Rumley called the meeting to order and gave the Overview of the Board and general meeting rules. 
Ricky Hall gave the invocation. 
 
1. Public comment on non-agenda items. There were none. 
 
2. Approval of the March 17, 2015 meeting minutes. Ricky Hall made a motion for approval, second by Dean 

Ward. All voted in favor. 
 
3. Committee Reports. There were none. 
 
4. Old Business.  

 a. Discussion of Development Ordinance. 

 Dean Ward stated that there needs to be some type of text amendment or moratorium with the payment in 
lieu of in the Development Ordinance. Mr. Ward said that he had done some research and contacted some 
surrounding municipalities, and Mebane was the only one that does take in lieu of payment other than the 
City of Graham.  

 The other Board members agreed with him that you should not be able to skirt around the ordinance, more 
thought given to it or some changes made, and more clarity in the ordinance. Nathan Page said he could get 
some municipalities that have in lieu of payment and the Board could possibly use some of their language. 
Andy Rumley asked Frankie Maness how the Board should move forward at this point. 

 Frankie Maness said that in his opinion it was a little early to determine the effectiveness of the ordinance 
since only two projects have inquired.  He stated that the ordinance does not guarantee a development the 
ability to pay in lieu of, rather it is an option should there be a hardship.  Staff will not allow a payment in 
lieu if there is some question about a true hardship or if a developer is trying to use it to circumvent another 
rule such as stormwater.  If a developer does not agree with a staff decision, they can appeal to the board of 
adjustment for an administrative review.   

 Mr. Ward asked if we could put a moratorium or stay for the in lieu of payment. Mr. Maness said there is a 
process for a moratorium, and he would need to look at that and get back with him. 

 It was the final consensus of the Board to get input from City Council so the discussion was left open until 
next month’s meeting, and possibly staff can arrange a joint meeting with City Council to discuss this item. 

5. New Business 

a. Kimrey Road Rezoning (RZ 1502) - Application by the City of Graham to initiate I-1 zoning for a portion 
of a parcel on Kimrey Road (GPIN 9803172212).   

Page 53 of 104



 Mr. Page said there is an application from Frankie Maness to initiate zoning for two parcels which is 
located in the NCCP and is on our side of the line of agreement with Mebane and is outside our ETJ which 
is why it is unzoned. The proposal is to rezone the parcels to I-1. 

 Mr. Maness said there is a pending petition for annexation for the parcel. As a city, we don’t leave a parcel 
unzoned, and since this is an industrial zone, the more restrictive zoning would be I-1 for light industrial.  
Mr. Ward asked when the ETJ would be extended out there. Mr. Maness said there are no plans to extend 
the ETJ out there at this point. There has been some talk about unified zoning that is consistent with both 
cities. Mr. Maness said this parcel is outside our one mile limit. Mr. Maness said there is a line of 
agreement drawn on the map where Graham and Mebane have agreed as they grow, they will go to that 
line of agreement, and this parcel is on our side and is outside our jurisdiction. Mr. Maness said this is not 
a forced annexation but a noncontiguous annexation. Mr. Ward asked if they will receive all city services, 
and Mr. Maness said yes they would receive all city services and rules, taxes etc.  

 Ricky Hall made a motion to give favorable review and pass on to City Council, second by Bonnie 
Blalock. All voted aye.     

 
No further business the meeting was adjourned. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
Martha Johnson 

Inspections/Zoning Technician 

Page 54 of 104



STAFF REPORT 
Prepared by Nathan Page, Interim City Planner

Rezoning for Kimrey Road (RZ1502) 

Type of Request:  Initiate Zoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on April 21, 2015 
City Council on May 5, 2015 

Contact Information 
Frankie Maness, City of Graham 
PO Drawer 357, Graham, NC  27253 
336-570-6700; fmaness@cityofgraham.com 

Summary 
This is a request to zone the subject properties to  I-1. The 
property is currently vacant and wooded. The stated reason for 
this rezoning request is “To initiate zoning on a parcel which has 
applied for annexation into city limits from Alamance County’s 
Jurisdiction.” 

 

 

 

Location 
Kimrey Road 

GPIN: 9803172212 

Current Zoning 
N/A 

Proposed Zoning 
Light Industrial (I-1) 

Overlay District 
none 

Surrounding Zoning 
N/A, Mebane Light 

Manufacturing (M-2) 

Surrounding Land Uses 
Vacant, Tree Farm, Distribution 

Center 

Size 
84.433 acres and 3.901 acres 

Public Water & Sewer 
Provided along northwestern 

portion of tract. 

Floodplain 
No 

Staff Recommendation 
Approval 

Page 55 of 104



Conformity to the Growth Management Plan (GMP) 
and Other Adopted Plans 
Applicable Goals to Guide Us into the Future 

• 7.6.4.1. Encourage the development of an 
office/industrial/light industrial center developed similar 
to a corporate campus, office park, or regional 
employment center. This rezoning would permit a number 
of types of industry in an area adjacent to a regional 
industrial center on the future development map. 

Applicable Planning District Policies and Recommendations 

• None are applicable 

Staff Recommendation 
Based on the Growth Management Plan 2000-2020 and the 
City of Graham Development Ordinance, staff recommends 
approval of the rezoning. The following supports this 
recommendation: 

• Rezoning the property would be consistent with the 
Regional Industrial Center development type and would 
further goals of the Growth Management Plan. 

 

Planning District 
Hawfields 

Development Type 
Regional Industrial Center 

Located near a major 
thoroughfare with interstate 

access and large parcels 

Industrial characteristics include 
open space; automobile oriented; 
design requirements; sidewalks; 

street trees; landscaping; 
buffering/screening; parking 
provided on-site; height of 

structures regulated; controlled 
access; building orientation 

Size of development more than 
10,000sf 

Infrastructure includes water, 
sewer, street connectivity and 

underground utilities 

Page 56 of 104



 

Application for 
REZONING or  

CONDITIONAL REZONING 

P.O. Drawer 357 
201 South Main Street 

Graham, NC 27253 
(336) 570-6705 

Fax (336) 570-6703 
www.cityofgraham.com 

This application is for both general district rezonings and conditional rezonings. Applications are due on the 25th of each month. 
Applicants are encouraged to consult with the City of Graham Development Ordinances and the City Planner. 

Site 

Street Address:        

Tax Map#:        GPIN:        
Current Zoning District(s): 

 R-7      R-9      R-12      R-15      R-18 
 R-MF      R-G      C-R      C-MXR 
 B-1      B-2      B-3      C-B      C-MXC 
 O-I      C-O-I      I-1      I-2      C-I 

Overlay District, if applicable: 
 Historic      S Main St/Hwy 87      E Harden St/Hwy 54 

Current Use:        

Total Site Acres:        

Property Owner:        

Mailing Address:        

City, State, Zip:        

Applicant 

 Property Owner     Other        
Application for Conditional Rezoning may only be initiated by the 
owner of a legal interest in all affected property, any person having 
an interest in the property by reason of written contract with owner, 
or an agent authorized in writing to act on the owner’s behalf. If the 
applicant for Conditional Rezoning is other than the Property Owner, 
documentation in compliance with the preceding statement must be 
provided in order for this application to be complete. 

Name:        

Mailing Address:        

City, State, Zip:        

Phone #        

Email:        

I have completed this application truthfully and to the best of 
my ability. 

 
Signature of Applicant Date 

Proposed Rezoning or Conditional Rezoning 

Proposed Zoning District(s): 
 R-7      R-9      R-12      R-15      R-18 
 R-MF      R-G      C-R      C-MXR 
 B-1      B-2      B-3      C-B      C-MXC 
 O-I      C-O-I      I-1      I-2      C-I 

Describe the purpose of this rezoning request. For Conditional 
Rezonings, also specify the actual use(s) intended for the 
property (from Sec. 10.135 Table of Permitted Uses) along 
with other descriptive or pertinent information, such as 
number of dwelling units, type of multifamily development, 
square footage and number of buildings: 

      

For Conditional Rezonings, this application must be 
accompanied by a Preliminary Site Plan and supporting 
information specifying the actual use(s) and any rules, 
regulations or conditions that, in addition to predetermined 
ordinance requirements, will govern the development and 
use of the property. 

 Site Plan Review Application must be attached to this 
application for Conditional Rezonings 

Office Use Only. DEVID# 
 

Page 57 of 104

http://www.cityofgraham.com
http://www.cityofgraham.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/DevelopmentOrdinances.pdf
http://www.cityofgraham.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/DevelopmentOrdinances.pdf


Page 58 of 104



City Council 
Decision & Statement of Consistency 

Per NCGS 160A-383, zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with 
an adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially adopted plan 
that is applicable. When adopting or rejecting any zoning amendment, 
the City Council shall also approve a statement describing whether its 
action is consistent with the “City of Graham Growth Management Plan 
2000-2020” and briefly explaining why the City Council considers the 
action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest. The Planning 
Board shall provide a written recommendation to the City Council, but a 
comment by the Planning Board that a proposed amendment is 
inconsistent with the “City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-
2020” shall not preclude consideration or approval of the proposed 
amendment by the City Council. 

Choose one… 

 I move that the application be APPROVED. 

 I move that the application be DENIED. 

Choose one… 

 The application is consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-2020. 

 The application is not fully consistent with the City of Graham Growth Management Plan 2000-
2020. 

State reasons… 

This action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reasons: 

 

 

 

 

This report reflects the decision of the City Council, this the 5th day of May, 2015. 

Attest: 

  
Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

  
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

Kimrey Road  
(RZ1502) 

Type of Request 
Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on April 21, 2015 

City Council on May 5, 2015 

Page 59 of 104



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: PROJECT QUARTER INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

PREPARED BY: FRANKIE MANESS, CITY MANAGER 

 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve Incentive Agreement for Project Quarter. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Staff members from the City of Graham, City of Mebane, 
and Alamance County have been working with 
representatives of MGP Retail Consulting, LLC to locate a 
proposed regional headquarters and distribution facility in 
the NCCP.  The distribution facility is proposed to 
employee 80 full time employees with average salaries of 
$80,000, 120 hourly employees, and provide a taxable 
value of $125,000,000.  Tentative plans call for an 873,000 
sq ft facility with room for expansion.   

The property being considered is approximately 84 acres 
and is located within the North Carolina Commerce Park 
and within the future territory of the City of Graham as 
determined by the existing Line of Agreement (LOA) established between the Cities.  An annexation application and initial 
zoning petition has been filed with the City of Graham.  As such, the City of Graham will be the lead agency for 
development reviews, inspections, and the provider for municipal services.   

PROPOSED INCENTIVES:    

(1) Roadway construction:  
a. Extending from Gov. Scott Farm Rd to serve the property and provide interconnection with roadway 

currently under construction; 
b. City of Graham will we be responsible for ROW acquisition, roadway design, and construction; 
c. Approximately 4,425’ of roadway and 24’ in width; 
d. Estimated cost: $2,000,000. 
e. Paving and improvement to Gov. Scott Farm Road by NCDOT ($750,000) 

(2) Cash Grant:  
a. Total incentive of $3,375,000; 
b. Payable over 5 year period upon satisfaction of tax base investment; 
c. Cash Grant will be pro-rated if investment target is not reached. 

(3) Waiver of local impact, permit and inspection fees associated with the initial construction with an estimated value 
of $200,000. 

Page 60 of 104



FISCAL IMPACT: 

Since this proposed development is within the NCCP, the expenses and revenues will be allocated as set forth in the Inter-
local Agreement between Alamance County, The City of Graham, and the City of Mebane that was approved by the City 
Council on May 7, 2013.  Assuming a new taxable investment of 125,000,000 and current tax rates, each entity would 
realize $410,416 in annual tax revenue. 

The costs pursuant to the Agreement are as follows (excluding in-kind fee waivers and NCDOT contribution): 
 Total Road Construction: $2,000,000  Graham Share = $   666,667 
 Total Cash Grant:  $3,375,000  Graham Share = $1,125,000  
    $5,375,000                $1,791,667 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the Incentive Agreement for Project Quarter with MGP Retail Consulting, LLC and authorize the Mayor, 
City Manager, City Attorney, City Clerk and Finance Officer to execute the agreement of behalf of the City.  

 

Page 61 of 104



STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF ALAMANCE 
         AGREEMENT 

This AGREEMENT, made and entered into this ____day of _____________2015, by and 
between MGP RETAIL CONSULTING, LLC (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the 
“Company”), and the CITY OF MEBANE, a North Carolina municipal corporation (hereinafter 
sometimes referred to as “Mebane”), the CITY OF GRAHAM, a North Carolina municipal 
corporation (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “Graham”) and ALAMANCE COUNTY, a 
North Carolina County (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “County”) 

RECITALS: 

A. The Company which is presently located in McLean, Virginia is considering locating a 
new regional headquarters and distribution facility (hereinafter “Facility”) in the North 
Carolina Commerce Park (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “NCCP”), which is an 
economic development zone under an extended agreement between two cities and 
County, and will construct a new building and install machinery and equipment with said 
facility to be in service no later than December 31, 2017 (“Completion Date”), and to be 
located within the corporate limits of Graham, Alamance County, North Carolina. 
 

B. The Facility will involve new capital investment (including, building, machinery and 
equipment) of approximately One Hundred Twenty-five Million Dollars 
($125,000,000.00). 
 

C. Subject to Section 2.e. below, the Facility will create eighty (80) full time employment 
positions with average salaries of $80,000.00 and One Hundred Twenty (120) hourly 
employees. 
 

D. Some elements of said job creation and investment may be made by an affiliated entity or 
successors to the Company, but for the purposes of this Agreement, shall be deemed to 
have been made by the Company.  
 

E. It is contemplated that the Facility will be located upon property upon which or through 
which the Units may need to construct, install, maintain and operate water and sewer 
utilities and transportation routes to serve other properties. 
 

F. The County, Graham, and Mebane (hereinafter sometimes collectively referred to as the 
“Units,” and individually as, a “Unit”) find that in order to aid and encourage the 
construction of the Facility and installation of the machinery and equipment in NCCP, it 
is necessary and desirable to assist and reimburse the Company for a portion of its 
construction costs and new equipment costs. 
 

G. Pursuant to G.S. Section 160A-20.1, 158-7.1, and 158-7.2, as construed by the North 
Carolina Supreme Court in its opinion in Maready v. The City of Winston-Salem, et al, 

Page 62 of 104



342 N.C. 708 (1996), the Units may enter into an agreement with the Company in 
connection therewith. 
 

H. The Units finds that reimbursing the Company for a portion of its construction and 
equipment costs serves a public purpose and will increase the taxable property base for 
the County and Cities and help create not less than eighty (80) new jobs in the County by 
the Completion Date, all of which will result in an added and valued benefit to the 
taxpayers of the County and Cities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual provisions and covenants herein, and 
other good and valuable consideration which the parties hereby acknowledge, The Company, 
The County, Mebane and Graham agree as follows: 

1. To assist the Company in its transportation and access infrastructure, the Units will 
provide Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00), (hereinafter sometimes referred to as 
“Local Transportation Grant Funds”), towards roadway construction starting at Governor 
Scott Farm Road and ending and connecting to Melville Commerce Parkway (the 
“Parkway Extension”), such improvements to be to a standard to accommodate 
commercial truck traffic carrying standard commercial loads, including but not limited to 
those having three to five axles, to and from the Facility. The Units agree to use their best 
efforts to secure Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($750,000.00) from the North 
Carolina Department of Transportation (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “DOT”) for 
the improvement of Governor Scott Farm Road (“Farm Road Improvements”; the 
Parkway Extension and Farm Road Improvements being hereinafter sometimes 
collectively referred to as the “Transportation Improvements”).  
 
a. The Units are hereby responsible for the design and construction (including 

administration of all contracts and agreements in connection therewith) for the 
Transportation Improvements and assumes all responsibility for the cost of 
thereof, including but not limited to the Transportation Improvement Funds, with 
no recourse to the Company. The Transportation Improvements shall be 
completed within one (1) year of the date of this Agreement ("Transportation 
Improvements Deadline").  In the event that the Units determine that they will be 
unable to complete the Transportation Improvements by the Transportation 
Improvements Deadline, they covenant and agree to immediately provide written 
notice of such inability to the Company. Upon receipt of such written notice, or in 
the event that the Company determines in its good faith, reasonable discretion that 
the Transportation Improvements will not be completed by the Transportation 
Improvements Deadline, then the Company may elect, upon written notice to the 
Units, to assume control of the construction of the Transportation Improvements 
at the Units sole cost and expense. In such event the Units hereby covenant and 
agree to fully cooperate with the Company in (i) appropriating funds to pay all 
engineers, architects, contractors, subcontractors or material suppliers 
("Transportation Vendors") involved in the construction of the Transportation 
Improvements, and to assign to the Company all rights in and to any contracts 
with the Transportation Vendors as the Company may elect to assume, (ii) 
condemning, or entering into the necessary agreements with the applicable 

Page 63 of 104



landowners to convey to the Units, the portions of any properties necessary to 
construct the Transportation Improvements, all at the sole cost and expense of the 
Units, (iii) delivery of all plans, reports, studies, and agreements related to the 
construction of the Transportation Improvements, (iv) granting of all rights, 
permits, and/or approvals necessary to permit the Company to construct the 
Transportation Improvements, and (v) accepting the dedication of the 
Transportation Improvements and thereafter maintaining such Transportation 
Improvements in a first class manner and condition. In the event that the 
Company elects to pay, in its sole discretion, any amounts due by the Units to the 
Transportation Vendors for the Transportation Improvements, the Units shall 
reimburse the Company for such amounts within thirty (30) days after receipt of 
written invoice therefor from the Company. 
 

 
2. To further assist the Company in its site acquisition, Facility construction, and machinery 

and equipment installations, and subject to the requirements hereinafter set forth, each 
Unit agrees to reimburse the Company for a portion of said construction and installation 
costs in the amount of One Million One Hundred Twenty-five Thousand Dollars 
($1,125,000.00), for a total of Three Million Three Hundred Seventy-five Thousand 
Dollars ($3,375,000.00) (the “Incentive Funds”). In performance of all activities involved 
in the site acquisition and facility construction, as well as in the machinery installation, 
the Company shall have full discretion to make all decisions regarding such 
improvements and contracting and purchasing without the joinder or approval of the City 
except for the requirements set forth in Paragraph 8 below. These payments of cash 
grants from Alamance, Graham, and Mebane to the Company shall be made as follows: 
 

a. A payment of Six Hundred Seventy-five Dollars ($675,000.00) shall be paid by 
the Units in equal sums of Two Hundred Twenty-five Dollars ($225,000.00) from 
each Unit, to the Company after the Facility has received its certificate of 
occupancy, and the Company has certified to the Units that eighty (80) full time 
positions have been filled at the Facility, provided, however, that all property tax 
liabilities on the above referenced Facility and machinery and equipment (in the 
above agreed amount) shall have been paid by the Company for the fiscal year in 
which the certificate of occupancy has been issued.  In the event that there are any 
outstanding property tax liabilities on the above referenced Facility and 
machinery and equipment at the time such payment contemplated herein is due, 
such payment shall be delayed until the date that is ten (10) days after such 
outstanding property tax liabilities have been paid. 
   

b. Four (4) additional payments of Six Hundred Seventy-five Thousand Dollars 
($675,000.00) shall be paid by the Units in equal sums of Two Hundred Twenty-
five Thousand Dollars ($225,000.00) from each Unit, annually to the Company on 
the anniversary date of the first payment in (a) above provided that there are no 
outstanding property tax liabilities on the above referenced Facility and 
machinery and equipment.  In the event that there are any outstanding property 
tax liabilities on the above referenced Facility and machinery and equipment at 

Page 64 of 104



the time such payment contemplated herein is due, such payment shall be delayed 
until the date that is thirty (30) days after such outstanding property tax liabilities 
have been paid.  
 

c. All payments provided for in subparagraphs (a) and (b) shall be made no later 
than Thirty (30) calendar days after satisfaction of the requirements described in 
the subparagraphs. Any payment due hereunder shall be adjusted so that the total 
payments to the Company shall not exceed 2.7% times the annual taxable value of 
the property (excluding land, but expressly including all improvements located 
thereon) maintained by the Company for ad valorem tax purposes during the year 
period beginning at the issuance of Certificate of Occupancy. All payments are 
subject to the requirement that not less than eighty (80) full time jobs shall be 
maintained by the Company at the Facility.  
 

d. In the event of the Company's failure to create eighty (80) jobs and invest 
$125,000,000 by the Completion Date, the Units shall grant a reasonable 
extension of time to the Company to meet the job and investment criteria in this 
Agreement or otherwise agree to such other performance criteria that equate to a 
similar economic and fiscal return to the Units. 
 

e. In the event that the Company fails to make the full investment of 
$125,000,000.00 by the Completion Date, as it may be extended, the cash grant 
payments will be pro-rated using the $125,000,000.00 as the denominator and the 
taxable value as the numerator, which in turn shall be multiplied times that cash 
grant for the applicable fiscal year of the Units, however, the denominator may be 
modified pursuant to subsection 2(d) above.  
 

f. Graham agrees to waive all local impact and inspection fees, having an estimated 
value of Two Hundred Thousand Dollars ($200,000.00).  
 

3. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the parties hereto covenant 
and agree that the Transportation Improvement Funds, Transportation Improvements, and 
Incentive Funds (collectively, "Incentives") are a material consideration in the Company's 
decision to locate the Facility in Graham, North Carolina, that the Company would not 
have located its Facility in Graham, North Carolina without the Incentives and that the 
Company will be substantially harmed in the event that the Units obligations are not 
satisfied as provided herein. 
 

4. During the performance of the Agreement, the Company agrees to allow representatives 
of the Units to enter upon its property during normal business hours upon forty-eight 
hours prior notice for the purpose of confirming the new construction and the purchase of 
new equipment has occurred. To the extent allowed by applicable law, the Units covenant 
and agree to protect, and not use or disclose, any of the Company’s confidential and 
proprietary information. 
 

Page 65 of 104



5. If prior to the Units expending monies, for any reason whatsoever the Company chooses 
not to make the above referenced investments and to cancel this Agreement, it may do so 
by providing written notice. Upon such notification, this Agreement shall be cancelled 
and all of its terms and conditions shall become void. If, however, the Company chooses 
not to make the above referenced investment and any one of the Units has expended 
funds, the Company shall be liable for a return or pay-back of the government funds 
expended as hereinafter stated.  
 

6. The Company agrees, upon request of the Units, to make full and accurate accounting to 
the Units of all expenditures and construction and acquisition of equipment referenced 
above as required by this Agreement upon completion of total investment and the 
granting of the Certificate of Occupancy. The Company shall make such accounting as is 
necessary to verify construction and purchase of equipment and after such construction 
and purchase of equipment has been verified, the Company shall have no further 
obligations to account to the City for any other expenses incurred.  
 

7. The Company shall not discriminate against any person on the grounds of race, color, 
national origin, sex, age, or disability in the administration of this Agreement nor shall 
any person be excluded from participation in, or be denied the benefits of, any project 
constructed under this Agreement on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex, age, 
or disability.  
 

8. The Units respectively bind themselves, their successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives to other parties hereto and those parties’ successors, assigns, and legal 
representatives, in respect to covenants, agreements, and obligations contained herein. No 
party to this Agreement shall assign the Agreement or any of the obligations or rights 
described herein without written consent of the other. If either party attempts to make 
such an assignment without such consent, that party shall nevertheless remain legally 
responsible for all obligations under the Agreement. The Company may assign this 
Agreement to a subsidiary, parent or affiliated company, with the written consent of the 
Units which shall not be unreasonably conditioned, delayed or withheld. 
 

9. This Agreement may be modified only by a written agreement executed which must be 
approved by the Units by all parties hereto. The contractual commitments provided for 
herein and made by the parties hereto shall be deemed to continue into the future, survive 
and remain binding upon future elected and appointed officials to the full extent 
permitted under applicable law. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts 
separately with the resultant executed counterparts forming a single Agreement.  
 

10. In the event of such cancellation of the Agreement described above, the Units shall have 
no further obligations to make any further payments as called for in this Agreement. 
 

11. The parties and each person executing this Agreement on behalf thereof represent and 
warrant that they have the full right and authority to enter into this Agreement, which is 
binding, and to sign on behalf of the party indicated, and are acting on behalf of 
themselves, the constituent members and the successors and assigns of each of them. The 

Page 66 of 104



parties agree to reasonably assist one another and cooperate in the defense (should any 
defense ever be necessary) of this Agreement and/or the incentives granted hereunder, so 
as to support and in no way undercut the same. In the event that any of the incentives or 
other assignments of the Units are determined to be invalid, the Units agree that they will, 
to the fullest extent permitted by law, provide the Company with any permitted incentives 
of substantial equal value pursuant to one more or more replacement incentive grant 
programs. 
 

12. No provision of this Agreement may be invalidated, except by the Superior Court of 
Alamance County which shall have sole jurisdiction over any disputes which arise under 
this Agreement or otherwise regarding the parties hereto, and further, venue shall be 
proper and shall lie exclusively in the Superior Court of Alamance County, North 
Carolina. 
 
If any such court holds any provision of this Agreement, invalid or unenforceable, then: 

a. Such holdings shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision of 
this Agreement 

b. Such provision shall be construed as closely as possible to the Party’s Original 
intent in order to render such provision valid or enforceable, as applicable; and 

c. The remaining terms hereof; together with such reconstructive provision, shall 
constitute the parties’ entire agreement hereof. 
 

13. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between Units and the Company and 
supersedes any and all other agreements on this subject between parties. 
 

14. In the event that, prior to completion of the Facility, the Units expend funds for any of the 
incentives provided for in this Agreement, whether for road infrastructure or cash grants, 
and the Company elects to cancel the Agreement or does not comply with its obligations 
to construct the Facility, the Company agrees to fully reimburse the Units for any 
amounts expended by them through the date of such cancellation. The Company shall 
reimburse the Units within thirty (30) days of written demand. In the event that Company 
fails to re-pay such amounts, the Units may recover the funds advanced under this 
Agreement plus all the costs of collection, including without limitation reasonable 
attorney fees. 
 

15. Company acknowledges that the Units are governmental entities, and validity of this 
Agreement is based upon the availability of public funding under the authority of its 
statutory mandate. Subject to the provisions of Section 10, in the event that public funds 
are unavailable for the performance of the Units’ obligations under this Agreement, then 
this Agreement shall remain in full effect, provided, however, that the payment 
obligations of the Units shall be temporarily suspended, without penalty to the Units, 
immediately upon written notice to Company of the unavailability of public funds. At 
such time as such public funds are again available, the payment obligations of the Units 
hereunder shall be deemed reinstated without necessity of further written agreement.  It is 
expressly agreed that the Units shall not activate this “unavailability” provision for its 
convenience or to circumvent the requirements of this Agreement, but only as an 

Page 67 of 104



emergency fiscal measure during a substantial financial crisis. In either event, the public 
parties agree that they will use best efforts to replace, through other sources available to 
them under law, funds due to the Company, as soon as practical. In the event of a change 
in the Units’ statutory authority, mandate and/or mandated functions by State and/or 
Federal legislative or regulatory action, which adversely affects the Units’ authority to 
continue its obligations under this Agreement, then this Agreement shall be suspended 
without penalty to the Units upon written notice to Company of such limitations or 
change in the City’s legal authority.  
 

16. Company agrees that upon written request of the Units that company will grant to the 
requesting Unit(s), free of charge, easements that are, in the Company’s sole discretion, 
reasonable and necessary for water and/or sewer utilities and for transportation services 
(including without limitation temporary construction and/or drainage easements) that 
serve the Facility and its property.  The easements shall be in mutually agreeable form 
and substance consistent with the Units’ standard form agreements.  Any such easements 
shall be located in areas of Company’s property which will not unreasonably interfere 
with Company’s intended use of Company’s Facility. The Company commits that it will 
favorably consider, on a case by case basis, any requests from such Units for similar 
easements to serve adjoining properties provided that such requested easements will not 
have a detrimental impact upon the Company’s property or Facility operations. 
 

17. Any notices required by this Agreement shall be mailed to the following persons:  

If to the County:  

Alamance County  
Attn:  Craig Honeycutt, Manager  
124 West Elm Street  
Graham, NC  27253  

 
If to Mebane:  

 City of Mebane  
 Attn:  David Cheek, Manager  
 106 E. Washington Street  
 Mebane, 27302 
 

With Copy to:  
 
 The Vernon Law Firm  
 Attn:  E. Lawson Brown, Jr.  
 P.O. Drawer 2958  
 Burlington, NC  27216-2958  
 
  

Page 68 of 104



If to Graham:  

 City Manager  
 City of Graham 
 Attn:  Frankie Maness 
 P.O. Drawer 357 
 Graham, NC  27253 
 
If to Company: 

 Robert Lester 
 Development Manager 
 MGP Retail Consulting LLC 

8200 Greensboro Drive, Suite 900 
McLean, VA  22102 

 
With a copy to: 
 
Christopher D. Lloyd 
Senior Vice President and Director 
McGuireWoods Consulting, LLC 
901 East Cary Street 
Richmond, VA  23219 

 
And to: 
 
Josiah A. Bancroft 
McGuireWoods LLP 
1230 Peachtree Street, Suite 2100 
Atlanta, Georgia 30309 

 

[Signatures Appear on Next Page] 

 

 

  

Page 69 of 104



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

“MEBANE” 
CITY OF MEBANE 
A municipal corporation of the State of North Carolina 

By: ____________________________    
Glendel Stephenson,  
Mayor, City of Mebane      

 

 

This instrument has been preaudited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget 
and Fiscal Control Act. 

 

_____________________________________  ___________________________ 
Jeanne Tate, Mebane Finance Officer   Date 

Approved as to Legal Form and Sufficiency 

_____________________________________ 
E. Lawson Brown, Jr., Mebane City Attorney 

 

 
[Signatures Appear on Next Page] 

 

  

Page 70 of 104



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

 

“GRAHAM” 
CITY OF GRAHAM 
A municipal corporation of the State of North Carolina  

 
By: ____________________________  

Jerry Peterman,  
Mayor, City of Graham 
 
      

This instrument has been preaudited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget 
and Fiscal Control Act. 

 

_____________________________________  ___________________________ 
Sandra King, Graham Finance Officer   Date 

Approved as to Legal Form and Sufficiency 

_____________________________________ 
Keith Whited, Graham City Attorney 

 

[Signatures Appear on Next Page] 

 

  

Page 71 of 104



 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

 

ALAMANCE COUNTY  
A political subdivision of the State of North Carolina  
     
By: ____________________________  

Dan Ingle,  
Chairman, Alamance County Board of Commissioners  
 
      

This instrument has been preaudited in the manner required by the Local Government Budget 
and Fiscal Control Act. 

 

________________________________________  ___________________________ 
Susan Roberts, Alamance County Finance Officer  Date 

Approved as to Legal Form and Sufficiency 

_____________________________________ 
Clyde Albright, Alamance County Attorney 

  

Page 72 of 104



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have made and executed this agreement as of the 
day and year first above written. 

MGP RETAIL CONSULTING, LLC 
A Delaware limited liability company  
 
By: ________________________ (SEAL)  
Name: ________________________ 
Title:   ________________________ 
 
 

Page 73 of 104



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: ENGAGEMENT AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTING, PROFESSIONAL 
ASSISTANCE AND PREPARATION OF 6/30/15 FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

PREPARED BY: SANDRA KING – FINANCE DIRECTOR 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Engagement Agreement with Cobb, Ezekiel, Loy & Company, P.A. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

In order to provide assistance with financial issues and the preparation of the annual financials in a more efficient 
process, we are working with our previous audit firm more closely.  This arrangement provides assistance to the 
finance staff and our hope is to streamline the year end process to gain efficiency and accuracy in our year end 
processes. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Cost for these services are estimated to be from $25,000 to $30,000.  Funds will be made available each year in the 
annual operating budget of the General Fund to cover these costs.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the Engagement Agreement with Cobb, Ezekiel, Loy & Company, P.A. 

 

 

 

 

Page 74 of 104



Page 75 of 104



Page 76 of 104



Page 77 of 104



Page 78 of 104



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: AUDIT CONTRACT 

PREPARED BY: SANDRA KING – FINANCE DIRECTOR 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approve the Audit Contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, LLP 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The Local Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act requires that all units of local government “have its accounts 
audited as soon as possible after the close of each fiscal year by a certified public accountant…”  The City is 
attempting a new method of financial reporting and auditing due to growing concern in local government 
regarding auditor independence.  Formerly our auditors prepared our financial statements as well as provided 
auditing services.  Under the proposed arrangement, the City’s former auditors, Cobb, Ezekiel, Loy & Company, 
P.A, will assist Staff with audit preparation and financial reporting and Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, LLP, will 
provide a “true audit”.   

The audit committee selected Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, LLP, from a group of 4 respondents to a Request for 
Proposal issued by the City on March 9, 2015   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The fee stipulated in the contract is $18,900.  Funds are made available each year in the annual operating budget 
of the General Fund to cover audit costs.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the Audit contract with Stout, Stuart, McGowen & King, LLP 

 

Page 79 of 104



















































Page 104 of 104


	05-05-2015 Agenda Regular Session
	1. Honorary Recognitions, Resolutions and Proclamations:
	Sister City Fountain Dedication
	Mike Carson Resolution
	Sara Pugh Resolution
	2014 Police Officer of the Year Proclamation

	2. Consent Agenda:
	Approval of Minutes - April 14, 2015 Special Session
	Tax Releases and Refunds
	Request from the Recreation & Parks Department

	3. Old Business
	Apex View UBD and Community Center (SUP1501)

	4. Request and Petitions of Citizens
	Annexation Kimrey Road
	Annexation 351 Longdale Drive

	5. Recommendations from Planning Board
	Planning Board Minutes - April 21, 2015 Regular Session
	Kimrey Road Rezoning (RZ 1502)

	6. Project Quarter Incentive Agreement
	7. Audit & Accounting Services:
	Approve Engagement Agreement for Consulting, Professional Assistance and Preparation of 6/30/15 Financial Statements.
	Approve Audit Contract

	8. Issues Not Included on Tonight’s Agenda


	Street Address: Kimrey Road
	Tax Map: 159502/159503
	GPIN: 9803172212/9803194278
	R7: Off
	R9: Off
	R12: Off
	R15: Off
	R18: Off
	RMF: Off
	RG: Off
	CR: Off
	CMXR: Off
	B1: Off
	B2: Off
	B3: Off
	CB: Off
	CMXC: Off
	OI: Off
	COI: Off
	I1: Off
	I2: Off
	CI: Off
	Historic: Off
	S Main StHwy 87: Off
	E Harden StHwy 54: Off
	Current Use: Vacant
	Total Site Acres: Tract 1= 84.433 Acres, Tract 2= 3.901 Acres
	Property Owner: Scott Mayo Properties, LLC
	Mailing Address: P. O. Box 2690
	City State Zip: Burlington NC, 2721
	Property Owner_2: Off
	Other: City of Graham
	Name: Frankie Maness, City Manager
	Mailing Address_2: P.O. Drawer 357
	City State Zip_2: Graham, NC 27253
	Phone: (336) 570-6700
	Email: fmaness@cityofgraham.com
	R7_2: Off
	R9_2: Off
	R12_2: Off
	R15_2: Off
	R18_2: Off
	RMF_2: Off
	RG_2: Off
	CR_2: Off
	CMXR_2: Off
	B1_2: Off
	B2_2: Off
	B3_2: Off
	CB_2: Off
	CMXC_2: Off
	OI_2: Off
	COI_2: Off
	I1_2: On
	I2_2: Off
	CI_2: Off
	square footage and number of buildings: This is a proposal to initiate zoning on two tracts, one 84.433 acre tract and another 3.901 acre tract, which have applied for annexation into city limits from Alamance County's jurisdiction.
	Site Plan Review Application must be attached to this: Off
	Date: 


